FACTORS INFLUENCING THE ADOPTION OF AGENCY BANKING BY KCB BANK KENYA LIMITED

\mathbf{BY}

OTIENO, RAPHAEL OKINYI

D61/61937/2010

RESEARCH PROJECT SUBMITTED TO THE SCHOOL OF
BUSINESS IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE
REQUIREMENTS FOR THE AWARD OF A DEGREE OF
MASTERS OF BUSINESS ADMINISTRATION, UNIVERSITY OF
NAIROBI

NOVEMBER, 2016

DECLARATION

This research project is my original	inal work and its presentation has not been done in any
university for consideration	
Signature	Date
Otieno, Raphael Okinyi	
Registration No. D61/61937/201	10
This research project has been su	abmitted for examination with my approval as University
Supervisor.	
Signature	Date
Mr. Joab Ooko	
Lecturer, Department of Financia	ce and Accounting
School of Business	
University of Nairobi	

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work is a dedication to my loving and dear wife Susan Ochito Wambanda, daughter – Kaylee Megan Okinyi, son – Elvin Ennis Okinyi and not forgetting my loving Mum Mrs. Margaret Anyango Otieno for being my source of inspiration throughout the entire process of my MBA programme. I will forever remain indebted to you guys. Your support is unmatched.

DEDICATION

Foremost, I give utmost gratitude to the Almighty above for the gift and sustenance of life and for giving me the skills, knowledge, resources and energy to be able to complete this paper.

I also remain grateful to my project supervisor Mr. Joab Ooko for his patience, direction and assistance throughout my research work and for his incisive comments, criticism and insights, which kept me focused on the project. He has been of tremendous support and assistance.

To my dear mum Mrs. Margaret Anyango Otieno and my late dad Mr. Elly Otieno Ongojoh for their encouragement and unwavering commitment and support to my education at all times.

For each and every one who supported me in this work, I will remain forever grateful.

ABSTRACT

Developments in information communication and technology among other factors have brought about high level of dynamism in the operating environment. Increased competition among commercial banks and the need to improve their operational efficiency have led them to adopt a number of distribution channels. The main aim of agency banking is to expand the accessibility to financial services specifically among the unbanked population for it has been unaffordable to maintain by the banks following the smaller number of the population. This study seeks to answer one research question: What are the factors influencing the adoption or embracing of agency banking by KCB Bank Kenya Limited? The study adopted a case study design with a qualitative approach. The data was analyzed descriptively using mean and standard deviation. The findings were presented in table and narrative form. It was established that there was positive relationship between cost reduction and adoption of agency banking. There was a positive relationship between expansion strategy and adoption of agency banking. The respondents noted that there was a positive relationship between diversification strategy and adoption of agency banking. They also said that there was a positive relationship between information and communication technology and adoption of agency banking. The researcher inferred that there is positive relationship between cost reduction strategy, expansion strategy, diversification strategy, and information and communication technology and adoption of agency banking at KCB. The researcher recommends that a little more efforts need to be put to reduce the costs associated with agency banking further since there is a lot of competition from other banks in the sector. The KCB management need to pay more attention to the implementation of their expansion strategy since it's not bringing optimal outcomes insofar adoption of agency banking with the bank is concerned. The management of KCB need to ensure that their product diversification strategy is vibrant and competitive, there is need to benchmark with other players in the industry. The researcher recommends that KCB needs to further advance and expand their information and communication technology infrastructure to better march the market needs and put the bank a head of other players in the market. The study suffered a limitation in that the researcher was not in a position to eliminate bias and subjectivity completely, the study targeted the employees of KCB who may portrayed a false image of the situation. Therefore some information may not be accurate. The researcher suggests that a study be done on the direction and degree of change on the bank's overall performance given the adoption and growth of agency banking.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iii
DEDICATION	iv
ABSTRACT	v
TABLE OF CONTENTS	vi
LIST OF TABLES	ix
LIST OF ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS	X
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Background of the Study	1
1.1.1 Agency Banking	3
1.1.2 Factors Influencing the Adoption of Agency Banking	5
1.1.3 The Kenya Commercial Bank (KCB)	7
1.2 Research Problem	8
1.3 Study Objective	10
1.4 Value of the Study	10
CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW	12
2.1. Introduction	12
2.2 Theoretical Review	12
2.2.1 Financial Intermediation Theory	12
2.2.2 Agency Theory	14
2.2.3. Diffusion Innovation Theory	16
2.3 Empirical Review	17
2.3.1 Global Studies	17

2.3.2 Studies in Kenya	18
2.3.3 Cost Reduction And Adoption Agency Banking	22
2.3.4 Expansion Strategy and Adoption of Agency Banking	24
2.3.5 Diversification Strategy and Adoption of Agency Banking	27
2.3.6 Information and Communication Technology and Adoption of Agency Banking	29
2.4 Literature Review Summary	32
CHAPTER THREE: RESEARCH DESIGN AND METHODOLOGY	33
3.0. Introduction	33
3.1 The Research Design	33
3.2 Target Population	33
3.3. Data Collection Method	34
3.4 Questionnaire	35
3.5 Analysis of data and Presentation	35
CHAPTER FOUR: DATA ANALYSIS, FINDINGS AND DISCUSSION	36
4.0 Introduction	36
4.1 Factors Influencing Agency Banking	36
4.1.1 Views on Cost Reduction	36
4.1.2 Views Expansion Strategy	38
4.1.3 Views on Diversification Strategy	39
4.1.4 Information and Communication Technology	40
4.2 Discussion of Findings	42
CHAPTER FIVE: SUMMARY OF FINDINGS, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	46
5.1 Introduction	
J.1 HIU OUU-UII	+ 0

5.2 Summary of Findings	46
5.3 Conclusions	48
5.4 Recommendations for Policy and Practice	48
5.5 Limitations of the Study	49
5.6 Suggestion for Further Research	49
REFERENCES	50
APPENDICES	55
Appendix I: Introduction Letter	55
Appendix ii: Questionnaire	56
Appendix iii: Originality Report	62

LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.1: Target Population	34
Table 4.1: Views on Cost Reduction	38
Table 4.2: Views Expansion Strategy	39
Table 4.3: Views on Diversification Strategy	40
Table 4.4: Information and Communication Technology	41

LIST OF ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS

ATM- Automated Teller Machine

CBD- Central Business District

CBK- Central Bank of Kenya

KCB- Kenya Commercial Bank

MFI- Microfinance Institutions

POS- Point of Sale

SPSS- Statistical Package for Social Sciences

CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background of the Study

Developments in information communication and technology among other factors have brought about high level of dynamism in the operating environment (Aguirre, Dias, and Prochaska, 2008). These have necessitated the changes in customer tastes and preferences making it necessary for organizations to adopt various strategies to ensure they meet these changing preferences (Kumar, Nair, Parsons & Urdapilleta, 2006). The banking industry in general has not been spared by these changes. Increased competition among commercial banks and the need to improve their operational efficiency have led them to adopt a number of distribution channels (Lyman, Pickens & Porteous, 2008). One of these channels is agency banking which enables them to avail their services like cash deposits, cash withdrawals, cash disbursement and loan repayments, bill payments, fund transfers, enquiry of balance, generation and issuance of mini bank statements, collection of documents in relation to opening of an account, application of loans, applications of credit and debit cards, agency mobile phone banking services among others through third parties called agents (CBK, 2010).

The study was anchored on three theories: agency theory, financial intermediation theory and the diffusion of technology theory. This theory was first explicitly modeled by Jenses and Meckling (1976), and seeks to clarify the link that exists amid one individual called a principal and the other who has been entrusted to act on the principal's behalf called the agent. Existing literature give the impression that the adoption of principles goals is more probable hence conduct itself in the principles interest in case the given activity should

1

yield some outcome. An agent is also probable to conform to the principles goals on the knowledge of a means in place that allows the principal to verify the agents' behavior. (Bendor, Glazer & Hammond,(2001). This theory helped explain the kind of relationship that exists between Kenya Commercial Bank and the various agencies that have been engaged by the Bank.

The financial intermediation theory was developed by Gurley and Shaw (1960). A financial intermediary can generally be defined as an institution or individual that serves as a conduit for parties in a financial transaction. A financial intermediary can also be seen as bank that consolidates deposits and uses the funds to transform them into loans (Lin, 2016). Financial intermediaries exist to lessen the costs of information and operations that crop up from an information asymmetry amidst borrowers and lenders (Coase, 1937). The successful operation of markets is hence aided by financial intermediaries, and any aspect influencing the amount of credit canalled via financial intermediaries can have considerable macroeconomic outcomes. The theory sought to explain the role that financial institutions play in ensuring that there is efficient financial intermediation process.

The technology diffusion theory was advanced by Rodgers (1962) who gave a proposition that four main elements affect the prevalence a new idea: the advancement itself, the canals for communication, and a social system and time. Technological diffusion is the course of action that innovations spread within and across the companies (Stoneman, 1985). This theory helped in explaining the adoption of new technology

among consumers or customers. It helped explain how customers go about adopting agency banking. Commercial banks in Kenya are faced with many challenges ranging from competition among themselves to stringent regulations by the CBK. Many banks have collapsed in the recent past while others have closed branches in areas deemed uneconomical to operate physical branches. In 2010, the Central Bank of Kenya allowed commercial banks to lend their financial services and products through agents. This has seen many commercial banks adopt agency banking as one of the models for operational efficiency. Some banks have even gone ahead to station agents in their branch networks so as to leverage their operating expenses.

KCB bank group is one of the leading banks in Kenya. According to reviews by Cyntonn Investments (2015) the bank was ranked as the best bank while NBK was ranked the worst in performance, customer care and operations. There are various factors that have impacted on the good performance of the bank group. The adoption of various new platforms due to technological advancement for example internet, mobile and agency banking have been heralded as a few of the new models that had boosted the banks' good performance. To narrow down, we are going to look at the influence of agency banking and the factors that influence its adoption. Agents therefore bring services closer to the people and are very efficient and timely.

1.1.1 Agency Banking

An agent bank is a form of organization commonly used by an already established and formal financial banking institution to access the un-banked population. The agent

banking business means the business carried out by an agent on behalf of an institution as permitted under some outlined guideline. It is impossible for an agent bank to operate on the name of the main/parent bank since it is carrying out operations on behalf of the main bank. (Komen, 2014). On the other hand, agency banking is known as services that are lent out by given special bodies (retail or postal outlet) that are identified and requested by financial institutions to help in development of clients' transactions. The title holder or an employee of a given retail outlet entitled with conducting the transaction and cash deposits of clients, withdrawals and cash transfers, paying of their bills, inquiry about an account balance, or received government benefits or a direct transaction(deposit) from their employer (Ivatory & Layman, 2006). In Kenya, the Central Bank of Kenya issues guidelines on how commercial banks can offer agency-services. Notably, agency-banking has been growing with the result being improved banking services. For instance, the agents have facilitated transfers worth billions of shillings (Musau & Jagongo, 2015). Therefore, as the number of transactions increases, so is the importance of the agencies in the economy. Agency banking is still in its infancy and seems to be the variant of mobile money popularly known as (M-Pesa) that simply means mobile money, and it operates via a system where money is sent from sender to receiver instantly using mobile phones. Importantly, agency banking has been helping to open up rural and suburban areas, the populations, which were unbanked for a long time (Mwangi & Willy, 2014). Prohibitive amounts for creating bank branches in upcountry and suburban areas have been cited as preventing roll out, but agency banking has created an alternative avenue for bringing banking services. The agents mostly help in account opening, depositing cash, cash withdrawals, account balance confirmation, and payment of various bills. However,

customers have advocated that the number of services be considered to include withdrawals using automated teller machine (ATM) cards. In this dissertation, the factors that influence the taking up of agency banking by KCB Bank of Kenya Limited was be examined.

1.1.2 Factors Influencing the Adoption of Agency Banking

Agent-banking is an arrangement whereby licensed institutions involve third bodies/parties to lend given banking services on their behalf. In Kenya, the Prudential Guideline on Agent banking issued by the Central Bank of Kenya (CBK) runs the agency banking. This was put into action on 1st May 2010. The access of banking services have been improved thanks to the exploitation of the agency banking model by banks since its initiation in 2010 (CBK, 2013).

There are a variety of factors that have facilitated the adoption of agency banking by Kenya Commercial Bank. The idea of cost saving and reduction has made to adopt agency banking. This is because the bank does not incur cost of recruiting new employees because the agent that is approved by bank is the one who hires or carries out the transactions himself. Savings on equipment like furniture and computers the agents purchase the pos machines and mobile phones. Systems are installed in the mobile phones to allow the agents to transact and send the data to the central processing center where the information is captured and data reconciled (McKay, 2011). Therefore the only cost the bank incurs is branding as the agents outlets have to be branded and look like small branches. The bank saves costs in terms of advertising and hiring sales personnel.

This is the work of the agent as he is paid according to the number of transactions and accounts opened therefore the agent makes sure there is traffic in his outlet in order to earn more (Hamblen, 2008).

The adoption of agency banking services by KCB Bank of Kenya is attributed to the being of a strong core banking technological system. A research study on agency banking carried out by Kenya Bankers Association (KBA, 2012) revealed that for its Center for Research on Financial Markets and Policy, KCB agents rely on the point-of-sale (POS) devices and/or mobile phones and have access to the bank's core banking system so that the clients' transactions are reflected in real time. The study found out that KCB had put in new core banking systems which are expected to facilitate operations consolidations, downsizing of staff and maintain new technological inventions such as the internet and mobile banking. In order to avoid fraudulent POS terminals, Kenya Commercial bank announces an exceptional undisclosed key to every clientele of the bank whereby it discovers itself to the banks clientele prior to each transaction (Ivatury, 2008).

A research undertaken by Mas and Almazán (2011) revealed that five reasons why banks ought to involve themselves in agency banking is comprised of: to trim down branches, come up with business in regions it never existed in before, come up with a transaction-based scheme with low income segments as the target population, re-deploy branches on selling merchandise rather than cash handling and making sure that the competitive spaces or empty places are filled. Banking halls that are overcrowded with long disturbing queues are negative experiences customers meet with in most banks all over

the country. Opening of a new branch of a bank could be possible or achieved when the banks contracts agents who enable the bank to get a good base of customer and transaction volume.

1.1.3 The Kenya Commercial Bank (KCB)

Agent banking is an alternative channel that is used to support available network of branches and ATMs (KCB Group Limited, 2016). To enhance its footprint in Kenya, the bank uses KCB Mtaani to improve accessibility of services and to tap into the unbanked population through agents who offer certain financial services. There are more than 10,000 KCB agents recruited by the bank who are spread all over the country who are currently offering services such as cash withdrawal, cash deposit, school fees payment, rent payment, account opening, balance inquiry, mini statements, loading cards, and bill payments (KCB Group Limited, 2016). This was made possible through the amended banking Act of 2010 which permitted small retail outlets such as petrol stations and pharmacies etc. to become banking agents.

The agents transact more than Ksh 100,000 daily and open over 3000 accounts each day (KCB 2015 3rd quarter financial report). In addition, the agents hold more than 1 billion shillings in deposits from customers. Available data from the bank's quarterly financial report indicate that the KCB banking agency helped to generate more commissions, collect cheap deposits and gain new customers when the industry's loan book was. To be an agent of KCB, one needs to have an existing legal entity such as a company, sole proprietorship, or partnership. Besides, the business must have been in existence for not

less than 18 months, and should be able to serve at least 50 customers each day. Moreover, the business should also be ready to deposit not less than shillings 100,000 to start agent services (KCB Group Limited, 2016).

1.2 Research Problem

The expansion of the accessibility to financial services specifically among the unbanked population for it has been unaffordable to maintain by the banks following the smaller number of the population is one of the major objectives of an agency banking. While an agency banking introduction is a move that was welcomed by the CBK, its slow movement and implementation could jeopardize the entire exercise of providing a low cost affordable financial services (CBK, 2010).

The banking industry is experiencing a rush and stiff competition to secure more customers among the population. As a result, the agents have turned out to play the role of banks by pushing for bigger demands to request for lofty commissions from the banks. Additionally, a report by the National Financial Access Survey (2009) revealed that 32% of the bankable residents of Kenya is still a challenge since it still exists outside the orbit of financial services with a number of residents still getting services from the non-formal financial system. This has aided in the establishment of agent banking (National Financial Access Survey, 2009).

Many researchers have been conducted about the current phenomenon through studying money transfer via mobile among the unreached population by banking services. For instance, King'ang'ai and Kigabo (2016) examined the influence of agency banking on

financial performance of commercial banks in Rwanda. The research findings revealed that the Central Banks action to police agency banking, low transaction cost through agency banking; easy customer access to finance via the agencies and a raise of market share positively influenced the banks' financial performance. This study concentrated on four commercial banks in Rwanda whose operating environment is different from Kenya Lozano and Mandrile (2010) examined agent banking model for branchless banking in Colombia. The findings of the study showed that implementation as an expansion into served customer markets had been done on banks with no branches.

Locally, Watiri (2013) conducted a study on the taking up of agency banking by Equity Bank of Kenya Limited in its business operations that are international. The study findings showed that the main influencers of agent banking adoption among Kenyan banks include enhanced customer service, cost reduction of the transaction costs and increased presence of the bank and especially in the remote, rural areas.

Ndungu and Njeru (2014) assessed factors influencing adoption of agency banking in Kenya using the case of Kajiado North Sub County. The results indicate that service reliability, resolution of clients' complaints in time, convenience through extended banking hours and high qualified and well trained agents led to high adoption rate of the agency banking.

Chiteli (2013) explored the undertakings of agent banking as a competitive approach of banks in Kisumu City. It was established from the study research that the control guidelines and procedures, upfront in technology, and guidelines that are to be followed

by the bank agents together with the banks have contributed a great deal to the success of agent banking. These existing studies examined agency banking in relation to different banks for instance agency banking in relation to Equity bank (Watiri, 2013), agency banking in relation to commercial banks (Ndungu & Njeru, 2014; Chiteli, 2013). There are therefore no valuable studies that have been done in Kenya about the influencers of the agency banking adoption by the Kenyan Banks. The research sought to take care of this loophole in the study research by answering one research question: What are the factors influencing the taking up of agency banking by KCB Bank of Kenya?

1.3 Study Objective

The study aimed at determining the factors influencing the adoption of agency banking by KCB Bank Kenya Limited

1.4 Value of the Study

The research study results would be relevant for the management at Kenya Commercial Bank group and other commercial banks in Kenya in informing their decision making on issues regarding the promotion of agency banking. It is believed that the findings of this study would inform the managers on various factors affecting agency banking adoption and ways in which the Bank can ensure higher adoption of agency banking among customers.

The Government of Kenya especially the Ministry of Finance through the Central Bank of Kenya would also find the study results valuable in formulation of policies and regulations governing the operation of agency banking in the Country. Through the findings of this study, the policy makers at the Central Bank of Kenya are able to learn of the various factors affecting adoption of agency banking so as to develop appropriate policies and regulations on the same.

Relevant scholars and researchers would also find the results of great help to them since they will use the findings as an empirical source of their future studies besides it suggesting areas of further studies where they can concentrate on. Through the findings of this study, empirical literature on agency banking adoption in Kenya has grown.

CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1. Introduction

This chapter provides literature the study topic, relying on theories and empirical research conducted previously. The theories and empirical studies are helpful in understanding the beliefs and facts, which can guide this study. Literature on agency banking will be discussed from theoretical and empirical review perspectives. Therefore, this chapter focuses on both reviews and how they have contributed to growth, development and acquisition of agency banking.

2.2 Theoretical Review

2.2.1 Financial Intermediation Theory

The financial intermediation theory was developed from the 60s starting with the work of Gurley and Shaw. The theory is builds on the asymmetrical and agency theories which focus on high transaction costs, incomplete information and methods of regulation (Andries, 2009). Therefore, the theory builds on the concept that intermediaries serve the purposes of the cost of transaction and informational asymmetries reduction (Allen & Santomero, 1998). Informational technology improvements, de-alteration and going further deep of financial market among other factors have been helpful in reducing transaction costs. Importantly, financial intermediation has been viewed as value-creating economic process.

Historically, banks and insurances have played a critical role in major economies apart from emerging economies that are still at very early stage. Simply put, banks have been in existence since the ancient times, often taking deposits from customers or providing loan advancements to economic agents that require capital. As a consequence, savings from customers have been transformed into investments (Andries, 2009). The role of intermediaries in the financial sector can be understood from various theories of intermediation.

The theories of intermediation originated from the models of resource allocation that considered markets as not only complete, but also perfect. The theories have, therefore, been based on the proposition that frictions emanating from asymmetric information and transaction costs have to be understood and appreciated to acknowledge intermediation. Leland and Pyle (1977) argued that an intermediary may indicate its well-versed decision by investing in wealth assets that it has special knowledge about. Besides, Diamond (1984) claimed that intermediaries are capable of overcoming the problems of asymmetric information through delegated monitors. Bhattacharya and Thakor (1993) also noted that financial intermediaries specialize in the provision of brokerage and other services such as rating, screening and certification. Brokerage is associated with cost advantage in the production of information, and brokers rely on cross-sectional and chronological reusability of information. Often, reusability originates from public good characteristic that allows the producer and distributor of the initial information to specialize in it.

Financial intermediaries are able to transform the credit portfolios that borrowers demand to deposit that lenders desire (Andries, 2009). The transformation can occur in two ways; changing of terms and cost reductions. Changing of terms is considered because of the realization that small creditors prefer to diversify risks, resulting in many contracts and increased transaction costs. Nonetheless, an intermediary can benefit from economy of scale by writing or implementing debt contracts with other firms. On the other hand, creditors benefit from cost reductions resulting from avoidance of cost duplication (Andries, 2009). Information asymmetry is based on the belief that the borrower may be having more information than the lender regarding the projects that they seek funds. The notion can result in moral hazard problems as well as adverse selection. Such problems eventually reduce the efficiency of funds transfer from where they are surplus to where they are deficit (Gwilym, 2008).

2.2.2 Agency Theory

The agency theory considers a company as a link of contracts initiated by self-interest individuals instead of a unified or profit maximizing entity (Rose, 1992). The theory, thus, focuses on how the problems existing in agency relationships can be resolved. Specifically, the agency theory addressees the problems that occur when there are conflicts goals set by agent and the principal (Mercado-Mendez & Willey, 1995). The conflict worsens when the principal cannot confirm what the agent is doing. Also, the theory examines the problems that occur when the agent and principal perceive risks differently. Agency theory states self interest is the motivating factor for the principal and the bank agent. The assumption of self-interest dooms agency theory to inherent

conflicts. Agents tend to follow self-interested objectives where self interest is the driving force, leading to deviation and confliction of the goals of the principal (Mercado-Mendez & Willey, 1995). Their main purpose though is to work towards achieving the object of the principal. Agency loss can be minimized if the banks principal and bank agent anticipate the same result. Even though the banking industry remains regulated, banks are subjected to similar types of agency costs as well as other influences on behaviors just as in other industries. The agency theory highlights the bond existing amidst the agent and principal. Additionally, the loss can be minimized if the principal possesses knowledge regarding the consequences of the activities of the agent. In sum, the principal needs to know if the agent is serving his or her interest (Mercado-Mendez & Willey, 1995).

Agency banking is an innovation that requires time to reach the intended target population; therefore, it becomes easier to relate it to diffusion theory. Communication channels can be used to popularize agency products and create confidence among bank customers. The rate of diffusion of agency banking will be based on various factors to be examined in the dissertation. Agency banking has not been adopted fully by commercial banks operating in Kenya despite its potential in cost saving. Most of the unbanked Kenyans possess the characteristics of adopters, which the commercial banks could benefit from.

Agency theory describes how important the relationship between the banks and the bank agents can be. Notably, banks take responsibility for the actions of their agents. Supervisory and monitoring strategies can be used to prevent loss-making or loss of

reputation resulting from the activities of its agents. Some dishonest agents engage in activities that violate banking procedures for their own self-interest. There has also been the concern of agents being conned by fraudsters or agents colluding with fraudsters to promote card skimming. Banks have had to increase surveillance and supervision resulting in increased agent costs. However, such unscrupulous practices can be minimized through proper screening of agents at the time of recruitment to ensure that values and cultures of the banks are not compromised. Among the strategies that can be used to ensure agent compliance with the practices of the commercial banks include; recognition, giving awards, or instituting stiffer disciplinary actions on agents who fail to comply.

2.2.3. Diffusion Innovation Theory

E.M Rogers came up with the Diffusion innovation theory in 1962, and it remains one of the oldest social science theories (Rogers, 2003). The theory originated from communication where it was used to explain how products or ideas gained diffuse over time and spread to a particular social system. Before innovation can be promoted in a given target population, its various characteristics that may hinder the adoption of innovation in that population must be understood. There are various types of adopters of innovation.

The five innovation characteristics that affect adoption of new ideas include; complexity, elative advantage, trialability, compatibility, and observability. When promoting a particular innovation, different strategies can be used to appeal to different adopters to

create a relative advantage. Notably, relative advantage can be measured from the resultant convenience, satisfaction, economic benefits, status, and social prestige. The inability level to easily use and understand an invention is known as complexity. The more an innovation becomes complex, the negative the adopters perceives it to be. Compatibility refers to the knowledge individuals have on innovation consistency with the past values, existing values, as well as needs of adopters. When an idea is not compatible with norms and values in a given social system, then such an idea may not be easily adopted. Triability is the level that a given innovation is experimented before use. Apparently, trying an innovation before adopting it can reduce unfounded uncertainties and increase the possibility of adopting it. Finally, observability refers to how innovation findings can be seen or communicated to others. Therefore, the likelihood adoption of an invention could be steered by seeing of its outcome by individuals.

2.3 Empirical Review

There are numerous researches undertaken on factors affecting the adoption of agency banking across the world. This section examines how these studies were conducted in terms of the scope, methodology and findings. This will help in building the research gap existing for the study to fill. It is organized into global or international and local studies.

2.3.1 Global Studies

On the international scene, King'ang'ai and Kigabo (2016) tried to find out how agency banking influences the financial performance of Rwanda's commercial banks where they concentrated on four commercial banks in Rwanda. This was achieved through a

descriptive research design targeting 4 commercial banks operating agency banking in Rwanda as at 31st December 2015. Following the small size and easy accessibility to the target respondents, all the four banks were included in the study hence a census. 60 respondents comprising of 15 senior managers from each bank were sampled for the research. Both primary data collected by use of structured questionnaires and secondary data from financial statements of the respective banks were used. The findings indicated that the dwindling cost of transaction via the agency banking that impacted positively on the operations of commercial banks financial performance of commercial banks in Rwanda. This implies that banks adopt agency bank as cost reduction strategy.

In another study, Lozano and Mandrile (2010) examined agent banking model for branchless banking in Colombia by looking at the not so modern banking sector's interest in banking services lacking branches and ascertaining platforms that area available for implementation of banking agent networks. The findings presented a new model in which MFIs acted as agents of branchless banking services. Through adoption of MFI, agency banking model would see increased accessibility to financial services in Colombia. These findings imply that a need to increase financial access facilitates agency banking adoption by Kenya Commercial Bank.

2.3.2 Studies in Kenya

Watiri (2013) conducted a study on the taking up of agency banking by a common Bank in Kenya (Equity Bank Kenya Limited) in its business undertakings that are across borders. The study made use of case study research design as the unit of analysis was

only one organization – Equity Bank Kenya Limited. The study applied qualitative technique for making inferences as the data collection involved interviews. The findings indicated that the functions of the agency department majorly play roles of reconciliation of agents accounts, pay agents' commissions, branding agents premises, check the systems robustness, opening agents accounts, linking accounts to easy 247 and dormant account activation among other functions. The main factors identified to be influencing the adoption of agent banking included: cost reduction, enhancement of customer service, expanded presence by banks particularly in remote areas.

A descriptive research design was used by Musau and Jagongo (2015) in conducting an analysis of the utilization of agency banking on the performance of Kenyan banks. The research findings provides a chronology on how banks across developing countries are embracing branchless banking with the intention of increasing the financial levels inclusion in their regions especially low income households. The objectives of the study included: assessing how agency liquidity affects banks performance; determining how agency costs influences the banks performance; evaluating the effects of agency security on the performance of banks; and evaluating how security agency influence regulations on the performance of banks. Descriptive statistics was used including: mean, standard deviation, frequency distribution and percentage points in the analysis. The findings indicate that agency banking had enabled cost saving and accessibility of financial services by banks and customers as well. Agency banking had enabled banks to reach the unbanked population.

Ndungu and Njeru (2014) assessed Factors affecting the taking up of agency banking in Kenya using the case of Kajiado North Sub County. The study concentrated on three independent variables: convenience, customer service and quality of agents. The findings indicate that system availability contributes to service reliability. High reliability increases the adoption of agency banking. Complaints resolution time does not affect the adoption of agency banking. Agency banking was delivering convenience in form of extended hours of banking and by bringing the banking service closer to the customers leading to increased adoption of agency banking. High quality of agents increases the adoption of agency banking while poor quality agents inhibit the adoption of agency banking. Commissions earned by agents grew from one period to the other signifying adoption and growth of agency banking.

Kambua (2015) examined how agency banking influenced financial performance of commercial banks in Kenya. This was undertaken via a descriptive research design that focused on 16 banks that had implemented agency banking by then. The study utilized secondary data from general business publications, reports from and by financial institutions and CBK banks supervision reports. Annual data were used for a period of three years between 2012 and 2014. For coming up with conclusions and recommendations, both qualitative and quantitative techniques were used. Data was analyzed through mean, frequencies, percentages and standard deviation. Study findings indicate that financial performance of commercial banks increased due to the increase in the number of agents of commercial banks hence a positive link exists between number of agents and financial performance. It was also concluded from the research findings

that there exists positive link amidst cash deposits, volume of deposits, volume of withdraws and financial performance. Bank size had a constructive liaison with financial performance of commercial banks because as the number of agents increases the size of the assets increase hence financial performance.

According to Chiteli (2013), agent banking undertakings are a competitive approach of commercial banks in Kisumu City with the specific objectives including: coming up with the reasons for undertaking agent banking; establishing the stumbling blocks Commercial banks face in agent banking undertakings; and establish the precautions practiced by Commercial banks to police the banks agents' activities. The study applied descriptive research. The population of the research study comprised of the 3 Commercial Banks undertaking their operations actively in Kisumu city which thus: KCB, Cooperative bank, and Equity bank and other two that lacked agent banking undertakings/operations. The research study employed both primary and secondary data. The study results reveal that control laws and procedures, upfront in technology, and regulations practiced both by the agents and the banks have contributed a great deal to the viability of agent banking. Muiruri and Ngari (2014) examined how financial innovations influenced the financial performance of commercial banks in Kenya. Credit cards, mobile, internet and agency banking were all looked at whether they affected the financial performance of commercial banks in Kenya. It applied descriptive research design targeting 44 commercial banks in Kenya out of which 16 were selected. The findings indicate that from the study findings, it was revealed that Kenyan banks employ use financial innovations to the uttermost to endure the highly competitive environment. The banks are

motivated by diverse interests to take up diverse finance related innovations. For instance, the number of transactions conducted in a day by the banks skyrocketed thanks to agent banking.

2.3.3 Cost Reduction And Adoption Agency Banking

The stakeholders in the banking sector have adopted and embraced agency banking because it has made it easier for more people to have access to financial services thus helping to cut on cost as the bank realize more transactions. Respective banks have approached the local mobile network operators to help them have network to complete customer transactions. Individuals who have the desire to partner with the local bank operators are equally encouraged by the banks to take up agency contracts thereby enabling the banks to cut down on some costs. At the agency outlet, customers are able to do cash deposits directly to their accounts or to some other accounts. It is equally possible for them to pay bills and school fees at the agency and withdraw cash from their bank accounts (Dickens, 2009)

According to Dickens (2009), banks will always want to cut on their costs even as they maximize on their profits. There is always a big reduction in the operational costs when banks adopt agency banking since the funds that are used in the hiring of employees is diverted to some other sector/ activity with the aim of maximizing their profits as they take control of the market. The contracted agent will hire an employee for him / herself or will carry out the transactions by himself /herself thus the operational cost will be upon him / her.

Simwaka, Munthali, Chiumia and Kabango (2012) investigated the impact of adoption of bank agency on bank's cost reduction found out that it enables the operators in the banking sector to cut down on the cost spent on office equipment. The agents purchase the P.O.S machines and mobile phones for themselves that are used to do transactions from the various outlets as they make commissions for themselves. It has been established that the banks use a lot of funds in the provision of staff furniture and computers used in every bank branch for the purposes of running the daily activities of the bank. A study done in Nigeria revealed that the adoption of agency banking has greatly enabled the local banks to reduce their operational costs thus leading to the expansion of the banks.

The agents are given the responsibility of branding their outlets and providing bank brochures to the clients who visit their respective outlets. Apart from cash transactions, the agents are expected by the banks to tell their clients more about the bank and the products that are offered by the banks. In return to any bank accounts that the agent manages to open, the banks pay the agents some commission on top of the commission earned from the other transactions that are done in the outlet. By doing this, the agents help the respective bank in the marketing of the bank products thus the bank will need little workforce in the sales department. This helps the bank to cut on the advertisement and sales personnel cost (Hamblen, 2008).

Banks also invest a lot of resources on internet to run the daily activities in each and every banking hall. This, according to Lynngard and Mickie (2008), can be cut down by a

big margin if various banks adopt and embrace the agency banking system. In 2012, a study done in Canada by Swike Morgan revealed that banks have recorded growth by their investment in agency banking since their cost of production has been cut down.

Agency banking is of benefit to the banking clients in many ways. Instead of the clients spending cash and time going to the banks to queue in order to receive banking services, they spend little time and cash to visit the bank agents who are near them. Banks have fixed working hours and most clients wish to have access to their bank accounts even after the bank working hours to have cash from their accounts or do deposits to their respective accounts. With the banking agents available, they are able to access their accounts even in the odd hours in the day without spending time lining up for the same (Ivantury, 2006).

2.3.4 Expansion Strategy and Adoption of Agency Banking

Every business' main objective is to attract as many customers as possible even as they maximize on profit. There are many customers who would otherwise be purchasing from them but due to certain reasons are not and the main aim of the stakeholders is to attract them for business (Koske, 2003). It is believed that market competition win customers as well as it makes a business lose customers at the same time. For a business to retain customers and not lose any, it should introduce products that are appealing and those that perfectly meet the needs of the customers. The strategic decisions companies make often involve deciding on how to grow and develop the business using the resources and opportunities that it has. Understanding the different ways a company can grow is necessary and is always needed (Clare, 2008). Companies spend resources in undertaking

internal expansion in order to develop externally. Businesses may achieve expansion by undertaking the developments themselves this being referred to as organic growth (Clare, 2008).or by contracting other organizations to do it for them.

In Kenya, it has been noted that there has been dynamism in the banking sector for the last 10-15 years. It has equally been noted that the predictability of the business environment has been difficult since there has been a constant change from stable environment that can be predicted to one that is very competitive with uncertainty in terms of predictability. According to Kaskende (2008), many banks in Kenya till early 2000 enjoyed monopolism and protection from the government. In 2012, the central bank of Kenya released a report stating that many customers make cash transactions in terms of deposits and withdrawals at agents' outlets. As at December 2012 according to the report, more than 37 million transactions worth over Ksh. 195 billion were realized from the active agent outlets. The report equally showed that at the end of the year 2014, transactions worth Ksh. 152 billion shillings were done from the agents' outlets. Over the years, the number of transactions at the banking agency has been constantly increasing at a constant rate thereby encouraging more agency outlets to be operational. Having started in the year 2011 in Kenya, the banking model is still at its initial stages of adaptation with the commercial banks being the main beneficiary of the rapid growth of agency outlets that has since helped cut the cost of expansion and staffing.

In Kenya, Ounga (2014) examined the relationship existing that compares financial development to the growth of economy over the period 1980 to 2011. The author noted

that the development of financial sector had a significant positive effect on growth of the economy. More so, in the study it was noted that the banking sector has been growing over time especially with the introduction of mobile banking, expansion of deposit taking microfinance sub-sector and the setup of credit reference bureaus among other developments. The author underlined the importance of a robust financial sector in accelerating economic growth.

As at December 2012, the central bank of Kenya noted that the number of agency outlets had outnumbered the number of bank branches in Kenya. It is said from the report that there were 1272 active and operational agents approximated to be about 15% more than the number recorded in 2011. This when converted to the number of bank branches it was found that customers are able have access to 13 agent outlets for every bank branch available.

In Kenya, KCB and Equity banks are two earliest adopters of agency banking and have the biggest number of agent outlets countrywide according the annual financial release. The chief executive KCB said that their focus as a bank is to make sure that they have consolidated their business and that they have leveraged their technology platforms and partnerships to drive business growth as they serve and keep their customers. As at the first quarter in 2013, KCB had 5035 active agents who together with the mobile banking platform used by more than 0.8 million customers accounted for 15% of all transactions. Equity bank on the other hand during the same period of time had 6892 active agents. It is said that the agency banking has become the key driver to the growth of the banking

sector. James Mwangi, Equity bank chief executive, announced at the end of the third quarter in 2013 that there was need for diversification of the bank's portfolio. He hinted that the bank was working on how to increase the number of agency outlets to help in the regional expansion of the bank. This, according to him, will enable the bank to get its roots in the areas where there are no banks. Bank analysts have revealed that the commercial banks are reducing costs and making it easier for cash transactions when they incorporate agency banking. The agents are directly saving the commercial banks the hustle of setting up fully fledged branches, staffing cost and other costs like cleaning and maintenance of internet connection.

2.3.5 Diversification Strategy and Adoption of Agency Banking

According to Amit (1988), diversification is a strategy by companies that is aimed at increasing sales volume from products that are new in the market for them to increase their profit levels. A business entity can decide to bring new products in the market in order to increase the profit levels. The businesses that have embraced diversification have witnessed increased performance beyond what they have witnessed before. These companies have ventured into lines of business that are different from the current ones with an aim of beating other companies in the market. Companies have employed diversification strategies by increasing the number of markets, coming up with new products and services to the existing business. This strategy was developed in 1957 by Asnoff as he looked at the growth strategies that have helped so many business enterprises to make grow and make profits.

When various investments are pooled together in a group, the risk seems to reduce as opposed to each investment put separately on its own. Various unique factors associated with unrelated independent securities are the driving force for diversification (Fitzroy et al, 2012). The most risky marketing strategy is diversification since it involves a company entering into a new market while creating a new product. It is said that when other strategies fail to produce the desired objective, diversification strategy can be considered to enhance the growth of a firm. There are types of diversification that are available for any business entity namely; vertical, horizontal, concentric and conglomerate diversification. Of the four types of diversification strategies, electronic money transfer and agency banking apply concentric diversification whereby new products in the market make use of existing technologies and marketing system to enlarge the production portfolio of the farm.

The financial sector in the last three decades has witnessed transformations in their operations and set objectives. According to Standage (2009), the emergence of advanced technologies, deregulation, disintermediation and the wave of consolidation in the financial sector has been instrumental in triggering off diversification of operations. This has led to the banks to surpass their normal operations and risk into other activities like insurance, mortgage business, investment, asset finance, asset management among others to help them make more profits. The general trend has always been towards the downstream universal banking where financial institutions have undertaken non-banking activities, (Githira, 2008).

In Canada, the efficiency of Canada's big five chartered banks were measured and found that they have been they have been underperforming over time. Dullmann (2010), realized after a careful study that the more the banks specialize in other industries found in the market, the more they will expand and realize more profits. He further established that the larger banks are in the best position of diversifying unlike those that are still struggling to be established. The larger banks have many customers as well as a great exposure in the market thus giving them advantage over the smaller banks that are struggling to set up and sell their products in the existing market. His study equally found out that a bank which diversify geographically reduce risk thus able to expand and realize desired and set goals. In conclusion, diversification has been the greatest way through which the investors in the banking sector make large profits.

2.3.6 Information and Communication Technology and Adoption of Agency Banking

Information communication technology has enabled banks to serve their clients faster even as they do much with less input. The adopting of technology has brought a big transformation in the banking sector from paper to paperless banking services. Customers are equally not forced to stick to their bank branch due to the introduction of digitalized and networked banking services. Internet has equally become very cheap unlike in the past making it easier and faster for data to be transferred. The management and accounting systems have equally changed due to technology leading to a change in the way banks deliver services to their customers.

According to Joseph (2005), profound transformations and acceleration have been witnessed in the world today as a result of the tremendous development of information technology which have brought up new activities in various fields as well as transactions that were not there before. The banking sector is one of the pioneer institutions that has utilized electronic appliances to gain a competitive advantage over other sectors. The banking industry has provided new systems and applications that maximize on the use of modern technology that are now available as they extensively use the information and communication technologies.

Merton (1990) gives three motivations for producing innovations namely the creation of new financial structures that allow risk sharing, risk pooling and hedging as well as new financial structures for transferring resources, the improvement of economic efficiency and liquidity and reduction of agency costs According to Beaver (2002), competition in the banking sector is brought about by the innovativeness as far as information technology is concerned and that the banks that are creative enough are able to make more profits and expansions out of it.

According to Makori(2015), it has become necessary for banks to change the past concepts of banking service to those that are current because of the rapid growth that has been witnessed in this sector. Electronic banking services have been used to assist the customers receive efficient services in the bank that has encouraged competition among the banks to reduce costs incurred as efficiency is raised and more customers attracted .this has made the bank agents to have a big penetration in the market as it attracts more

customers. In the U.S, it was found out in a study by William Edmond (2002) that information technology has enabled the banking sector to have a direct link with their agents using a platform that link up the agent to the bank on the internet. It is said that the P.O.S used by the agents have an inbuilt platform that coordinates the bank account information between the agent and the bank. This has risen trust on the agents by the general public who are sure of the safety of their cash and has allowed for easy access of their bank accounts.

According to a press release by the CBK in 2014, information technology has widely increased the number of the agency outlets because of the VISA/ electronic card technology. With a credit card, a customer can use their ATM/VISA cards to deposit or withdraw money from their accounts using a P.O.S machine that is found with the various bank agents. According to a quarterly report from K.C.B in the year 2014, it was recorded that the introduction of mobile banking services in the agency banking department increased the performance of the banks. There are some clients who don't prefer walking with their ATM cards but rather rely on the mobile banking as one of the safe ways of managing their accounts to keep them away from fraud. In areas where clients are not able to access banks and ATM machines, the bank agents have been able to have opportunity to come up simply because they are able to make commissions using the mobile banking services technology.

2.4 Literature Review Summary

This chapter has assessed several empirical studies in helping to bring out the studies that have been undertaken. On international level, King'ang'ai and Kigabo (2016) examined how agency banking affects financial performance of commercial banks in Rwanda where they concentrated on four commercial banks in Rwanda. Lozano and Mandrile (2010) examined agent banking model for branchless banking in Colombia. These studies assessed different elements of agency banking from those being assessed in the current study.

For the local studies, Watiri (2013) conducted a study on the taking up of agency banking by Equity Bank Kenya Limited in its business undertakings that are international. Musau and Jagongo (2015) conducted an analysis of the utilization of agency banking on the performance of Kenyan banks using descriptive research design. Ndungu and Njeru (2014) assessed influencers' of the taking up of agency banking in Kenya using the case of Kajiado North Sub County. Kambua (2015) examined how agency banking affects the financial performance of commercial banks in Kenya via a descriptive research design focusing on 16 banks that had implemented agency banking by then. Chiteli (2013) utilized undertakings of agent banking as a competitive strategy of Kisumu Citys' commercial banks while Muiruri and Ngari (2014) examined how financial innovations affect the financial performance of commercial banks in Kenya. These local studies examined different locations using different variables hence limiting their applicability to the current study settings.

CHAPTER THREE: RESEARCH DESIGN AND METHODOLOGY

3.0. Introduction

This chapter presents methods used by the researcher used to collect the data for the study. This includes the study design, population of study, sample design, data collection procedures and instruments and lastly, analysis of data used.

3.1 The Research Design

This is the strategy of shaping the research or the framework for study that is used to collect and analyze data. It is also a blue print specifying the methods and procedures the researcher uses for collecting and analyzing the needed information out of the study (Henn, Weinstein & Ford, 2006). The study adopted a case study while applying qualitative approaches to data collection and analysis, this allowed the researcher to obtain information concerning the current status of a phenomenon to depict what exists with respect to variables or conditions in a situation. This design enabled the researcher to assess the factors the factors influencing the adoption of agency banking at KCB.

3.2 Target Population

This refers to population in which the information is desired or surveyed in the process of study (Easton & Mcoll, 2012; Cooper & Schindler, 2008). The target population comprised of 6 staffs drawn from the head office at KCB headquarters. This study used a case study design on all the 6 staff drawn from different departments at KCB. This 6 staff included Chief Business Officer Kenya, Director Retail Banking, Director Finance, Head

of Strategy and New Business, Head of Channels- Retail Banking and Head of Agency Banking. This also enabled the researcher obtain detailed information on factors affecting the taking up of agency banking by Kenya Commercial Bank in Kenya.

Table 3.1: Target Population

Categories	Population
Chief Business Officer Kenya	1
Director Retail Banking	1
Director Finance	1
Head Of Strategy and New Business	1
Head of Channels- Retail Banking	1
Head of Agency Banking	1
Total	6

3.3. Data Collection Method

Primary data was collected by the use of a questionnaire since the study used primary data as the source of information for the research. The primary data was used because it focused on the facilitating and restraining variables in the adoption of the agency banking Open and closed ended structured questionnaires were applied by the researcher to gather the necessary information from the target population -the respondent.

3.4 Questionnaire

Questionnaires were distributed through drop and pick later procedure to the respondents that gave the respondents one week to fill them. On dropping the questionnaires, the researcher got contacts of the respondents and correspondence was through the use of emails and telephone calls that aided in keeping in touch with the respondents. The questionnaires were divided into sections; section A contained the introduction questions as well as the background information of the respondent and organizational issues that are of value to the study. Section B contained the level questions that helped in analyzing how reduction cost as a factor influenced the adoption of agency banking by KCB. Section C analyzed how expansion strategy as a factor influenced the adoption of agency banking by KCB. Section D examined how diversification as a strategy influenced the adoption of agency banking by KCB and section E assessed how ICT as a factor influenced the adoption of agency banking by KCB. The questionnaires were used by the researcher to collect the data because they had the advantage of being free from biasness by the interviewer.

3.5 Analysis of data and Presentation

Both qualitative data was collected. The data from the questionnaire was first coded and analyzed. Analysis of data passed through a number of stages. The questionnaires were first edited for consistency. Secondly, the data was checked and coded for any omission and error corrections. The data was analyzed using descriptive methods.

CHAPTER FOUR: DATA ANALYSIS, FINDINGS AND

DISCUSSION

4.0 Introduction

This chapter analyses data, interprets findings and discusses them in line with the

objective of the study; to determine the factors influencing adoption of agency banking

by KCB Limited. This narrows down to four factors: cost reduction and adoption agency

banking, expansion strategy and adoption of agency banking, diversification Strategy and

adoption of agency banking, information and communication technology and adoption of

agency banking.

4.1 Factors Influencing Agency Banking

This section analyses, presents and interprets the finding of the study in relation to cost

reduction and adoption agency banking, expansion strategy and adoption of agency

banking, diversification strategy and adoption of agency banking, information and

communication technology and adoption of agency banking.

4.1.1 Views on Cost Reduction

The respondents were given a number of 5 point Likert Scale statements on cost

reduction to respond to where 1= No extent, 2= little extent, 3=moderate extent, 4=great

extent and 5=very great extent. The mean, standard deviations and communalities were

analysed and interpreted.

36

The respondents opined that the adoption of agency banking enabled KCB to save on costs to a great extent (Mean=4.17,SD=0.753).It was typical that cost reduction was a leading factor for the adoption of agency banking at KCB to a large extent (Mean = 4.17,SD=0.753). It was evident that KCB had sub-contracted existing retail stores to offer financial services to customers to a large extent (Mean= 4.33,SD=0.816). It was common that fixed costs have considerably been reduced to a great extent due to adoption of agency banking at KCB (Mean= 4.17, SD=0.408). The respondents agreed to a great extent that KCB pays commission to agents only after a transaction has been realized (Mean= 4.17,SD=0.753). It was common that KCB incurred low acquisition costs for its new agents to a great extent (Mean= 4.67,SD=0.516). The respondents opined that KCB had greatly reduced its investment costs with the adoption of agency banking to a great extent (Mean=4.5, SD=0.837). The respondents explained that there was a strong significant positive relationship between cost reduction and adoption of agency banking. (Mean=4.74, SD=0.753). This meant that if the banks reduced the cost then there would be an improvement in the adoption of agency banking. The results are as shown in Table 4.1

Table 4.1: Views on Cost Reduction

Factors	Mean	S.D
The adoption of agency banking has enabled KCB to save on costs	4.17	0.753
Cost reduction is a leading factor for the adoption of agency banking at KCB	4.17	0.753
KCB sub-contracts existing retail stores to offer financial services to customers	4.33	0.816
Fixed costs have considerably been reduced due to adoption of agency banking at KCB	4.17	0.408
KCB pays commission to agents only after a transaction has been realized	4.17	0.753
KCB incurs low acquisition costs for its new agents	4.67	0.516
Adoption of agency banking leads maximization of the proportion of variable cost by KCB	4.67	0.516
KCB has greatly reduced its investment costs due to adoption of agency banking	4.5	0.837
Cost reduction has influenced the adoption of agency banking at KCB	4.74	0.753

4.1.2 Views Expansion Strategy

The respondents were given a number of 5 point Likert Scale statements on the expansion strategy to respond to where: 1= No extent, 2= little extent, 3=moderate extent, 4=great extent and 5=very great extent. The mean, standard deviations and communalities were analysed and interpreted.

The respondents pronounced that the an expansion strategy had enabled the adoption of agency banking by KCB to a great extent (Mean=4.17,SD=0.408).KCB had expanded (Mean =4,SD =0.632) and able to reach most people in the rural areas to a great extent

(Mean= 4,SD=0.894). This notably decongested branches ((Mean= 4,SD=0.894)) and diverted its customers from its crowded banking halls to a great extent (Mean= 4.5,SD=0.548). The bank has been able to overcame all the challenges associated with agency banking to a great extent (Mean=3.83,SD=0.408). The respondents noted that there was a positive relationship between expansion strategy and adoption of agency banking, mean=4.67,SD=0.404. This implied that if the expansion strategy of KCB would result into an adoption of agency banking. The results are as shown in Table 4.3

Table 4.2: Views expansion strategy

Factors	Mean	SD
An expansion strategy has enabled the adoption of agency	4.17	0.408
banking by KCB		
KCB is able to reach most people in the rural areas	4	0.894
KCB has expanded operations to remote areas	4	0.632
KCB has considerably decongested its branches due to adoption of agency banking	4	0.894
KCB has diverted its customers from its crowded banking halls	4.5	0.548
KCB has overcame all the challenges while implementing agency banking expansion strategy	3.83	0.408
The expansion strategy has positively influenced the adoption of agency banking at KCB	4.67	0.404

4.1.3 Views on Diversification Strategy

The respondents were given a number of 5 point Likert Scale statements on the expansion strategy to respond to where: 1= No extent, 2= little extent, 3=moderate extent, 4=great extent and 5=very great extent. The mean, standard deviations and communalities were analysed and interpreted.

The respondent opined that diversification has enhanced the adoption of agency banking by KCB to large extent (Mean=3.667, SD=0.816). It was apparent to that diversification at KCB has enhanced the spreading of risks (Mean=3.667, SD=0.816). It was found out that KCB promoted its products through the agents to a great extent (Mean=3.833, SD=0.408). It was established that diversification was concentric in nature (Mean=4.167,SD=0.408). The respondents mentioned that there is a significant positive relationship between diversification strategy and adoption of agency banking, Mean=4.64,SD=0.681. This implied that if KCB strengthened its diversification strategy then improvement would be seen in the adoption of agency banking. The findings were as shown in Table 4.3

Table 4.3: Views on Diversification Strategy

Factors	Mean	SD
Diversification has enhanced the adoption of agency banking by KCB	3.667	0.816
Diversification at KCB has enabled the spreading of risks	3.667	0.816
Diversification has enabled KCB to diversify its operational risks	4.333	0.516
KCB promotes its products through the agents	3.833	0.408
There is concentric diversification	4.167	0.408
Diversification strategy has positively influenced the adoption of	4.64	0.681
agency banking at KCB		

4.1.4 Information and Communication Technology

The respondents were given a number of 5 point Likert Scale statements on information and communication technology to respond to where: 1= No extent, 2= little extent,

3=moderate extent, 4=great extent and 5=very great extent. The mean, standard deviations and communalities were analysed and interpreted.

The respondents opined that the advancement in technology had enhanced the adoption of agency banking at KCB to a great extent (Mean=4.17,SD=0.408).It was established that KCB had invested in ICT infrastructure to a great extent (Mean=4, SD=0.632), this had also enhanced customer satisfaction to a great extent (Mean=4 SD=0.894).ICT had enabled KCB to deliver service efficiently to a large extent (Mean= 4,SD=0.894). The bank relied on ICT for effective delivery of products (Mean= 4.5,SD=0.548). The respondents noted that there was a significant positive relationship between information and communication technology adoption of agency banking, and mean=4.43,SD=0.891.This indicated that if KCB improved on their information and communication technology then the adoption of agency banking would also improve. The results are as shown in Table 4.7

Table Error! Use the Home tab to apply 0 to the text that you want to appear here.**4: Information and Communication Technology**

Factor	Mean	SD
The advancement in technology has eachled the adaption of access	4 17	0.400
The advancement in technology has enabled the adoption of agency	4.17	0.408
banking at KCB		
KCB use ICT for customer satisfaction	4	0.894
KCB has heavily invested in ICT infrastructure	4	0.632
ICT has enabled KCB to deliver service efficiently	4	0.894
KCB rely on ICT to offer effective products	4.5	0.548
Information and communication technology has positively influenced	4.43	0.891
the adoption of agency banking at KCB		

4.2 Discussion of Findings

The first determinant to agency banking was cost reduction strategy, the study established that cost reduction was a leading factor for the adoption of agency banking at KCB to a large extent (Mean = 4.17). This is supported by the findings by Dickens (2009) that cost saving and accessibility of financial services are the main forces driving banks to embrace agency banking in their operations. It was common that fixed costs have considerably been reduced to a great extent due to adoption of agency banking at KCB (Mean= 4.17). This is in line with the findings of Dickens (2009) that the banks that have adopted agency banking do not incur cost of recruiting new employees because the agent that is approved by bank is the one who hires or carries out the transactions himself. He further observes that this enables the banks to divert the funds that were spent on hiring and payments of workers into other activities that will help in the expansion of the bank's profit margins. Simwaka, Munthali, Chiumia and Kabango (2012) also noted that the adoption of the agency systems in banks has enabled the banks to cut down on the cash spent on equipment like furniture and computers.

The respondents agreed to a great extent that KCB pays commission to agents only after a transaction has been realized (Mean= 4.17), this has also been confirmed by Hamblen (2008). The respondents opined that KCB had greatly reduced its investment costs with the adoption of agency banking to a great extent (Mean=4.5). This is in line with the findings of Simwaka, Munthali, Chiumia and Kabango (2012) for a study done in Nigeria that revealed that the adoption of the agency has greatly enabled the banks to reduce the operational costs thus expansion of the banks. This study showed a positive relationship

between cost reduction and adoption of agency banking. The findings are supported Swike Morgan (2012) in Canada which revealed that banks have recorded growth by investing in agency banking simply because the cost of operation has been cut down.

The second determinant was the banks expansion strategy, KCB had expanded and able to reach most people in the rural areas to a great extent (Mean= 4,SD=0.894). This is supported by the CBK's 2012 Annual Supervision Report which noted that more bank customers are making cash deposits, withdrawals and other transactions through agents, fundamentally changing their mode of interaction with banks. This notably decongested branches (Mean= 4,SD=0.894)) and diverted its customers from its crowded banking halls to a great extent. The findings is supported by those of Onuonga (2014) that clients are increasingly doing transactions through the agents that the bank branches. It was found out that there was a positive relationship between expansion strategy and adoption of agency banking. This is supported by the assertion by Joshua Oigara, the chief executive that there is a relationship between expansion strategy and the agency banking. Agency backing is a key strategy for banks to expand their operations.

The third determinant to agency banking was diversification strategy, the respondent opined that diversification has enhanced the adoption of agency banking by KCB to large extent (Mean=3.667). The findings is supported by the assertions of Pearce, Robinson & Mital, (2008) agency banking apply concentric diversification which implies new products that make use of existing technologies and marketing system which expands reach to clients. It was apparent to that diversification at KCB has enhanced the spreading of risks (Mean=3.667). This is in line with the findings of Deng and Elyasiani (2008) geographic diversification is associated with bank holding company value

enhancement and risk reduction. It was found out that KCB promoted its products through the agents to a great extent (Mean=3.833), this is noted by Tabak et al. (2010 as the spirit of agency banking where banks promoted products through subsidiaries. It was established that diversification was concentric in nature (Mean=4.167). This was in line with the contention by Pearce, Robinson & Mital, (2008) that electronic money transfer and agency banking apply concentric diversification which implies new products that make use of existing technologies and marketing system which enlarge the production portfolio of the firm.

The fourth determinant was information and communication technology. The respondents opined that the advancement in technology had enhanced the adoption of agency banking at KCB to a great extent (Mean=4.17). This in in line with Makori (2015) contention that ICT has enabled banks agents have thrived and are currently estimated to have 33% penetration. This was also confirmed by a press release by the CBK in 2014 that information technology has widely increased the number of the agency outlets because of the VISA/ electronic card technology. It was established that KCB had invested in ICT infrastructure to a great extent (Mean=4), this had also enhanced customer satisfaction to a great extent (Mean=4), Joseph (2005) observed that the banking sector has invested quite a lot on the electronic applications to improve performance and gain a competitive advantage—strategy, this has also led to customer satisfaction. ICT had enabled KCB to deliver service efficiently to a large extent (Mean=4), this is supported by the assertion by Joseph (2005) that the banking sector has embraced the use of technology to serve its client's faster and also to do more with less. The bank relied on ICT for effective delivery

of products (Mean= 4.5),the efforts of KCB mirrors the assertions by Makori (2013) that banks have used ICT to reduce costs, raise efficiency and attract more customers. It was established that there was a positive relationship between information and communication technology and adoption of agency banking. This is supported by the assertions by Makori (2015) that there is a relationship between ICT and adoption agency banking. A press release by CBK in 2014 also confirmed the positive relationship.

CHAPTER FIVE: SUMMARY OF FINDINGS, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

5.1 Introduction

This chapter presents the summary of the findings of the study, gives the conclusions and recommendations for policy and practice. The limitations of the study together with the suggestions for further research are also discussed.

5.2 Summary of Findings

The objective of the study was to determine the factors influencing adoption of agency banking by KCB Limited. The study narrowed down of four factors whose influence on the dependent variable was assessed: Cost reduction and adoption agency banking, expansion strategy and adoption of agency banking, diversification Strategy and adoption of agency banking, information and communication technology and adoption of agency banking.

With regard to cost reduction and agency banking, It was found out that KCB has reduced fixed costs have considerably and investment costs to a large extent due to adoption of agency banking. The bank has also been incurring low acquisition costs for its new agents to a large extent. This was unmistakable given the item means ranged between 4.17 and 4.67. It was established that cost reduction strategies had been adopted at KCB to a large extent (Mean of mean=4.30). The respondents said that there is a significant positive relationship between cost reduction and adoption of agency banking.

In relation to expansions strategy and adoption of agency banking, it was found out that KCB has expanded operations, reach more people in the rural areas, considerably decongested its branches and overcame the challenges associated with the implementation of agency banking to a large extent. This was clear from the item mean ranging between 3.83-3.85.It was established that KCB had applied expansion strategy to a large extent (Mean of mean=4.08).The respondents noted a positive relationship between expansion strategy and adoption of agency banking.

In line with diversification strategy and adoption of agency banking, it was established that KCB has adopted concentric diversification which has promoted products through agents, spread risks and adoption of agency banking to a large extent. This manifest given the mean of items ranged between 3.667-4.167. It was found out that KCB had adopted diversification strategy to a large extent (Mean of mean=3.93). The respondents noted a there was a positive relationship between diversification strategy and adoption of agency banking.

In relation to information and communication technology and adoption of agency banking, it was established that KCB invested ICT infrastructure, this enhanced service efficiency and effectiveness, customer satisfaction and lead to the adoption of agency banking to a large extent. This was evident from item scores of between 4.0 and 4.5.It was determined that KCB had implemented the information and communication technology strategy to a large extent (Mean of mean=4.13). There was a significant positive relationship between information and communication technology and adoption of agency banking.

5.3 Conclusions

The researcher inferred that there is significant positive relationship between cost reduction strategy by KCB and adoption of agency banking. The researcher also concluded that KCB had adopted cost reduction strategy to a large extent (Mean of mean=4.30)

The researcher also deduced that there was a significant positive association between expansion strategy by KCB and adoption of agency banking. The researcher also inferred that KCB had applied expansion strategy to a large extent (Mean of mean=4.08)

The researcher concluded that there is a moderate positive relationship between diversification strategy at KCB and adoption of agency banking. The researcher also deduced that KCB adopted diversification strategy to a large extent (Mean of mean=3.93) The researcher inferred that there is a moderate positive association between information and communication technology and adoption of agency banking. The researcher also concluded that KCB had implemented the information and communication technology strategy to a large extent (Mean of mean=4.13).

5.4 Recommendations for Policy and Practice

The researcher recommends that a little more efforts need to be put to reduce the costs associated with agency banking furthers since there is a lot of competition from other banks in the sector. This will further enhance the adoption of agency banking for KCB.

The KCB management need to pay more attention to the implementation of their expansion strategy since it's not bringing optimal outcomes insofar adoption of agency banking with the bank is concerned.

The management of KCB need to ensure that their product diversification strategy is vibrant and competitive, there is need to benchmark with other players in the industry. This will further invigorate the adoption of agency banking enabling the bank to claim a reasonable market share. The researcher recommends that KCB needs to further advance and expand their information and communication technology infrastructure to better march the market needs and put the bank a head of other players in the market. This will enhance the enrolment of more banking agents with KCB.

5.5 Limitations of the Study

The findings of the study are limited to KCB branches only. Other commercial banks in Kenya may be operating under different management, environments, strategies and operational plans and therefore the findings may not apply/infer to them. The researcher was not in a position to eliminate bias and subjectivity completely, the study targeted the employees of KCB who may portrayed a false image of the situation. Therefore some information may not be accurate.

5.6 Suggestion for Further Research

The objective of the study was to determine the factors influencing adoption of agency banking by KCB Limited. It established that cost reduction, expansion strategy, diversification strategy and information and communication technology significantly influenced the adoption of agency banking. It would be important to investigate the direction and degree of change on the bank's overall performance as a result of growth of agency banking.

REFERENCES

- Aduda, J., & Kingoo, N. (2012). The relationship between electronic banking and financial performance among commercial banks in Kenya. *Journal of Finance and investment Analysis*, 1(3), 99-118.
- Allen, F., & Santomero, A. M. (1998). The theory of financial intermediation. *Journal of Banking & Finance*, 21, 1461-1485.
- Amit & Livnat (1988). Geographic Diversification in Banking and Its Implications for Bank Portfolio Choice and Performance, the study was presented at the BIS Workshop "Banking and Financial Stability", 20-21 March 2003.
- Ansoff, H. I., & McDonnel, E. (1990). Implanting Strategic Management. New York: Prentice-Hall.
- Arora, S. and Kaur, S. (2009). Internal determinants for diversification in banks in India an empirical analysis. International Research Journal of Finance and Economics. 24, 177-185.
- Barasa, D. A., & Mwirigi, F.M. (2013). The Role of Agency Banking in Enhancing Financial Sector Deepening in Emerging Markets: Lessons from the Kenyan Experience. *European Journal of Business and Management*, 5(21), 19-21.
- Beaver L. (2002). Strategic management Formulation and Implementation. New York.Harper Collins Publishers.
- Bebczuk & Galindo (2008). Implanting Strategic Management. New York: Prentice-Hall. Birch, D. (2008). Payments and Inclusion: From Branchless Banking to Bankless Banking. *Journal of Internet Banking & Commerce*, 13(3), 1-5.
- Busch, R. and Kick, T. (2009). Income Diversification in the German banking Industry. Deutsche Bundesbank, Discussion Paper Series 2: Banking and Financial Studies No 09/2009.
- CBK (2010) Guideline on Agency Banking CBK/PG/15, Nairobi http://www.centralbank.go.ke/downloads/bsd/GUIDELINE%200N%20AGENCY %2BANKING CBK%20PG%2015.pdf
- CBK (2011), Annual report. Retrieved on 24th October, 2016 from Central bank http://www.centralbank.go.ke/publications/default.aspx.
- CGAP (2009). Notes on Branchless Banking Policy and Regulation in Mexico, CGAP Technology.

- Cheung, C. F., & Li, F. L. (2012). A quantitative correlation coefficient mining method for business intelligence in small and medium enterprises of trading business. *Expert systems with applications*, 39(7), 6279-6291.
- Clare, C. (2008). Understanding Strategic management. London: FT Prentice Hall.
- Coase, R. H. (1937). The nature of the firm. *economica*, 4(16), 386-405.
- D'Souza and Lai (2003). "Principal and agent, The New Palgrave: A dictionary Economics v3 pp. 966-971
- Diamond, D. (1984). Financial intermediation and delegated monitoring. *Review of Economic Studies*, 51, 393-414.
- Dickens,P (2009). Marketing Strategies in the developed world. New York
- Düllmann et al. (2010). The theory of principal and agent part ii.Bulletin of Economic research 37(2) 75-97.
- Fitzroy et al, 2012 "Consumer Experience in Agency Banking." Presentation at the III Windsor Global Leadership Seminar in Regulating Transformational Agency Banking. Oakley Court Hotel, Windsor Global Leadership Seminar in Regulating Transformational Agency Banking. Oakley Court Hotel, Windsor, United Kingdom, 8-10 March.
- Frank, C., Lynch, E., & Schneider-Moretto, L. (2008). Stemming the tide of mission drift: microfinance transformations and the double bottom line. *Women's World Banking Focus Note*.
- Gakenia, C. (2008). Strategy Implementation by Kenya Commercial Bank Group Ltd.
- Gatwiri, M., Bichanga, W. O., Loki, M., & Makau, N. F. (2014). Effects of expansion strategies on performance of selected commercial banks in South Nyanza Region, Kenya. *Unpublished MBA Project School of Business, University of Nairobi*.
- Githira, T. (2008). Financial Markets and Institutions. Atlantic University: India Binding 46 University of Lynch, R. (2002). Corporate Strategy. Financial Times. London: Prentice-Hall. House. 60.
- Greg & Kyle (2009). Ethics and law for the health professions (2nd Ed.) Sydney: The Federation Press.
- Hamblen (2008). Do community banks benefit from diversification? Journal of Financial Services Research, 170-210.

- Hussain, et al. 2013. "Cross-country variation in household access to financial services." Washington, D.C: CGAP, the Vodafone Group Foundation, and the United Nations Foundation (in collaboration with Fin Mark Trust).
 - Innovation among Commercial Banks in Kenya. *Unpublished MBA project*, University of Nairobi.
- Ivantury & Timothy (2006). Using Technology to Build Inclusive Financial Systems. Focus Note 32. Washington, D.C: CGAP.
- Jensen, M. C., & Meckling, W. H. (1976). Theory of the firm: Managerial behavior, agency costs and ownership structure. *Journal of financial economics*, *3*(4), 305-360.
- Kaskende A. (2008). Research methodology. Washington D.C: National Academics Press.
- Kenya, F. S. D. (2009). FinAccess National Survey, 2009: Dynamics of Kenya's Changing Financial Landscape. FSD Kenya.
- Komen, F. K. (2014). Agency banking as an expansion strategy for Kenya commercial bank (Doctoral dissertation, University of Nairobi).
- Koske, J. (2003). Strategy Implementation and its challenges in public corporations: The case of Telekom Kenya. (Unpublished MBA project), School of Business University of Nairobi 59.
- Kumar, A., Nair, A., Parsons, A., and Urdapilleta, E. (2006). *Expanding Bank Outreach through Retail Partnerships: Correspondent Banking in Brazil*. World Bank Working Paper No. 85.
- Lucy, W. M. (2008). Challenges faced in strategy implementation. (Unpublished MBA Research), School of Business University of Nairobi.
- Lynngard & Mickie (2008). Regulating Transformational Agency Banking: Mobile phones and Other Technology to Increase Access to Finance". Focus Nte 43 Washington, D.C.: CGAP.
- Maganga, J. M. (2012). Strategies adopted by commercial banks in Kenya in implementing agency banking (Doctoral dissertation).
- Merton, L. (1990). Geographic Diversification in Banking and Its Implications for Bank Portfolio Choice and Performance, the study was presented at the BIS Workshop "Banking and Financial Stability", 20-21 March 2003.

- Musau, S. M. (2013). An analysis of the utilization of agency banking on performance of selected banks in Nairobi County, Kenya. Retrieved fromhttp://irlibrary.ku.ac.ke
- Mwangi King'ang'ai, P., Kigabo, T., Kihonge, E., & Kibachia, M. J. (2016). Effect Of Agency Banking On Financial Performance Of Commercial Banks In Rwanda. A Study Of Four Commercial Banks In Rwanda. *European Journal of Business and Social Sciences*, 5(01), 181-201.
- Mwangi, M. H. T., & Willy, M. M. (2014). Factors influencing the uptake of agency banking services by customers in commercial banks in Kenya: a case of Kenya Commercial Bank. *Strategic Journal of Business & Change Management*, 2 (10), 179-197.
- Ndungu, C. G. (2014). Assessment of factors influencing adoption of agency banking in Kenya: the case of Kajiado North sub county. *International Journal of Business and Commerce*, 3 (8), 91-111.
- Obura, P. (2015). The effect of components of Kenya bankers' reference rates on the interest rate spreads of commercial banks in Kenya (Doctoral dissertation, University of Nairobi).
- Otieno, E. (2012). Challenges of implementing agency banking as an expansion strategy at Kenya Commercial Bank Group Ltd (Doctoral dissertation).
- Pearce, Robinson & Mital (2006). Strategy Implementation by Kenya Commercial Bank Group Ltd.Galbraith, (Unpublished MBA project), School of Business University of Nairobi.
- Rogers, E. M. (2003). *Diffusion of innovations* (5th ed.). Free Press: New York.
- Rose, P. S. (1992). Agency theory and entry barriers in banking. *The Financial Review*, 27 (3), 323-353. Ross, Stephene A. (1973). The economic theory of agency: The principal's problem. American economic review 62(2) 134-139
- Saddiqi, M.N (1986). Model of Islamic banking. Kazi publication, Lahore, Pakistan.
- Saunders, A and Cornett, M.M, Financial Institutions Management, sixth edition. Toronto: Mc Gra Hill.
- Simwaka, Munthali, Chiumia and Kabango (2012). Can banks in emerging economies benefit from revenue diversification? Journal of Financial Services Research, 40, 79-101.
- Standage (2009). The Strategy Process, Concepts, content and cases. Pearson Education Incorporation.

- Swike Morgan (2012). A new agency model for agency banking in Colombia. International Development Law Organization.
- Tabak et al. (2010). Exploring Corporate Strategy. New Delhi: Prentice-Hall of India 62.
- Turfano, P. (1989), Financial Innovation and first mover advantages, Journal of Financial Economics 25: 213 240.
- Wairi D. K. (2011) Factors Influencing the Adoption of Agent Banking
- Waitathu, N. (May 26, 2014). KCB targets agency banking to cement market position. *The Standard*.
- Walker, L, B., & Cheung, Y. P. (1998). *IT to support service quality excellence in the a. Australia banking industry, Managing Service Quality*. Retrieved from from;http://www.emeraldinsight.com/journals.htm?articleid=842617
- Wambugu, J. K. (2011). Factors Influencing the Adoption of Agency Banking By Commercial Banks in Kenya. *Unpublished MBA project*, University of Nairobi.
- William Edmond (2002). Diversification in banking: Is noninterest income the answer? Journal of Money, Credit, and Banking, 36(5), 853-882.

APPENDICES

Appendix I: Introduction Letter

Dear Sir/Madam,

Re: Research on Factors Influencing the Adoption of Agency Banking By KCB

Bank Kenya Limited

I am a postgraduate student at the University of Nairobi studying for a Master of

Business Administration Degree. I am currently working on the stated dissertation project

as a requirement for my graduation and would be grateful if you completed the

questionnaire to help achieve this objective. I will make available the findings of this

project should there be need. Kindly complete the questionnaire with utmost honesty.

Thank you for completing the form.

Yours faithfully,

Raphael Otieno Okinyi

55

Appendix ii: Questionnaire

SECTION A: DEMOGRAPHIC INFORMATION

1)	Your highest level of ed	ducati	on attaine	ed					
	Certificate	[]	Diploma	[]			
	Bachelors Degree	[1	Masters	[]			
	PhD	[]						
2)	Please indicate the num	ber o	f years wo	orked in this Ban	ık				
	Below 3 years	[]	3-6 years		[]		
	6-9 years	[]	10 years and a	bove	[]		
3)	How long have you wo	rked i	n the Ban	nking industry?					
	Below 3 years	[]	3-6 years		[]		
	6-9 years	[]	10 years and a	bove	[]		
SE(CTION B: COST RED	UCTI	ON						
4)	Below are several sta	temer	its on ho	ow cost reduction	on as	a fac	ctor i	nfluenc	es the
	adoption of agency ban	king a	at KCB B	Bank Kenya Limi	ted. K	indly	indic	ate the	extent
	of agreement on each	state	ment usii	ng the five poir	nt Like	ert sc	ale: v	where	1= No
	extent, 2= little extent,	3=mo	derate ex	tent, 4=great ext	ent an	d 5=v	ery gi	eat ex	tent.
Sta	tements				1	2	3	4	5
Th	e adoption of agency ba	nking	has enab	led KCB to					
	ve on costs	2							

Cost reduction is a lead	ing factor for the adop	tion of				
agency banking at KCB						
KCB sub-contracts exis	ting retail stores to off	fer financia	ıl			
services to customers						
Fixed costs have consid	erably been reduced d	lue to				
adoption of agency bank	king at KCB					
KCB pays commission	to agents only after a t	transaction	Į.			
has been realized						
KCB incurs low acquisi	tion costs for its new	agents				
Adoption of agency bar	king leads maximizat	ion of the				
proportion of variable c	ost by KCB					
KCB has greatly reduce	d its investment costs	due to				
adoption of agency bank	king					
Cost reduction has influbanking at KCB	enced the adoption of	agency				
5) In general, to what	extent has cost reduc	tion as a f	actor in	fluence	d the ad	option of
agency banking at K	CCB bank?					
	Very great extent	[]			
	Great extent	[]			
	Moderate extent	[]			
	Little extent	[]			
	No extent	[]			

SECTION C: EXPANSION STRATEGY

Below are several statements on how expansion strategy as a factor influences the adoption of agency banking at KCB Bank Kenya Limited. Kindly indicate the extent of agreement on each statement using the five point Likert scale: where 1= No extent, 2= little extent, 3=moderate extent, 4=great extent and 5=very great extent.

Statements	1	2	3	4	5
An expansion strategy has enabled the adoption of					
agency banking by KCB					
KCB is able to reach most people in the rural areas					
KCB has expanded operations to remote areas					
KCB has considerably decongested its branches due to					
adoption of agency banking					
KCB has diverted its customers from its crowded					
banking halls					
KCB has overcame all the challenges while					
implementing agency banking as an expansion strategy					
The expansion strategy has positively influenced the adoption of agency banking at KCB					

6) In general, to what extent expansion strategy as a factor influenced the adoption of agency banking at KCB bank?

Very great extent	L	J
Great extent	[]
Moderate extent	[]
Little extent	[]
No extent	[1

SECTION D: DIVERSIFICATION STRATEGY

Below are several statements on how diversification strategy as a factor influences the adoption of agency banking at KCB Bank Kenya Limited. Kindly indicate the extent of agreement on each statement using the five point Likert scale: where 1= No extent, 2= little extent, 3=moderate extent, 4=great extent and 5=very great extent.

Statements	1	2	3	4	5
Diversification has enhanced the adoption of agency					
banking by KCB					
Diversification at KCB has enabled the spreading of risks					
Diversification has enabled KCB to diversify its					
operational risks					
KCB promotes its products through the agents					
There is concentric diversification					
Diversification strategy has positively influenced the					
adoption of agency banking at KCB					

7) In general, to what extent has diversification strategy as a factor influenced the adoption of agency banking at KCB bank?

very great extent	L	J
Great extent	[]
Moderate extent	[]
Little extent	[]
No extent	ſ	1

SECTION E: INFORMATION AND COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY

Below are several statements on how information and communication technology ICT as a factor influences the adoption of agency banking at KCB Bank Kenya Limited. Kindly indicate the extent of agreement on each statement using the five point Likert scale: where 1= No extent, 2= little extent, 3=moderate extent, 4=great extent and 5=very great extent.

Statements	1	2	3	4	5
The advancement in technology has enabled the adoption					
of agency banking at KCB					
KCB use ICT for customer satisfaction					
KCB has heavily invested in ICT infrastructure					
ICT has enabled KCB to deliver service efficiently					
KCB rely on ICT to offer effective products					
Information and communication technology has					
positively influenced the adoption of agency banking at					
КСВ					

8) In general, to what extent has information and communication technology as a factor influenced the adoption of agency banking at KCB Bank?

Very great extent	[]
Great extent	[]
Moderate extent	[]
Little extent	[]
No extent	[]

THANK YOU

Appendix iii: Originality Report

FACTORS INFLUENCING THE ADOPTION OF AGENCY BANKING BY KCB BANK KENYA LIMITED

ORIGIN	ALITY REPORT	ik:		
	14 %11 RITY INDEX INTERNET SOURCES	% 1 PUBLICATIONS	%9 STUDENT F	PAPERS
PRIMAR	RY SOURCES			
1	Submitted to Kenyatta l Student Paper	Jniversity		%2
2	Submitted to University Student Paper	of Nairobi		%1
3	chss.uonbi.ac.ke Internet Source			%1
4	Submitted to Saint Paul Student Paper	University		%1
5	erepository.uonbi.ac.ke			%1
6	gifre.org Internet Source			%1
7	Submitted to St Mary's Student Paper	School, Nairobi		<%1
8	ijsse.org Internet Source			<%1
9	www.businessdailyafrica	a.com		